
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

)
JOSEPH P. CARSON, )

Petitioner, )
)

v. ) Civil Action No. 05-0537 (PLF)
)

UNITED STATES OFFICE OF )
SPECIAL COUNSEL, )

Respondent. )
)

RESPONDENT’S REPLY IN SUPPORT OF DISMISSAL AND RESPONSE TO
PETITIONER’S MOTION IN SUPPORT OF MANDAMUS

Respondent, United States Office of Special Counsel (OSC), respectfully submits its

reply in support of dismissal and its response to petitioner’s motion in support of his petition for

writ of mandamus.  OSC is entitled to dismissal of petitioner’s petition for the reasons below and

those in its Motion to Dismiss.  Petitioner in his response to Respondent’s Motion to Dismiss

seems to argue that  5 USC § 1214 (e) entitles him to the extra ordinary remedy of mandamus to

OSC file no. MA-05-0820.  OSC opened MA-05-0820 in January 2005, in response to a

complaint filed by petitioner alleging that his employer, The Department of Energy (DOE),

failed to comply with an order from the Merit System Protection Board (MSPB), a possible

prohibited personnel practice under Title 5.  In file No. MA-05-0820, Petitioner had a second

allegation, that he had been defamed by DOE employees/officials in violation of DOE Order

3750.1 which  Petitoner argues, was required to be investigated by OSC.      

ARGUMENT

Petitioner Is Not Entitled To Mandamus Relief 

  The sole issue pending before this Court is whether petitioner is entitled to the mandamus

relief he requested on June 20, 2005 – i.e., that this Court “order OSC to re-open OSC file No.

MA-05-0820, and make a determination, based on the evidence [he] provided [to] OSC about the
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1  In his brief, petitioner defines the allegation at issue as being whether Department of Energy officials
violated DOE Order 3750.1, “Work Force Discipline” by failing to comply with a 1994 order from the Merit
Systems Protection Board.  See, e.g., Petitioner’s Opposition to Respondent’s Motion to Dismiss Petition for Writ of
Mandamus and Cross Motion to Issue Writ of Mandamus, p. 10.  Petitioner mischaracterizes his allegation. 
Petitioner’s June 20, 2005, motion to supplement was explicit and limited to the defamation allegation he made
during OSC’s investigation of MA-05-0820.  See Petitioner’s Motion to Supplement the Relief Requested, p. 1 (June
20, 2005).  Moreover, his allegations regarding DOE compliance with the 1994 order were raised in relation to 
MA-03-1288 and were dismissed by this Court, a decision affirmed by the Circuit Court.
2  In his brief, petitioner devotes an entire section of argument to Weber, which did not address 5 U.S.C. 
§ 1214(e), and posits what the Circuit Court would have held if the issue had been before it.  See Petitioner’s
Opposition to Respondent’s Motion to Dismiss Petition for Writ of Mandamus and Cross Motion to Issue Writ of
Mandamus, p. 17.  Since § 1214(e) was not at issue in Weber and since the Circuit Court’s decision did not address
it, petitioner’s post hoc re-drafting of the decision to read the way he wants it to read could not be more immaterial.

2

defamation he suffered, in violation of [a] specific agency rule,” and if OSC makes a “positive

determination” about the alleged defamation, then to refer the allegation to the Secretary of

Energy pursuant to 5 U.S.C. § 1214(e).1  See Petitioner’s Motion to Supplement the Relief

Requested, p. 1 (June 20, 2005).  Despite his efforts, petitioner simply cannot will into existence

any non-discretionary duty by OSC to determine whether he was defamed or to submit a 

§ 1214(e) report to the Department of Energy about his defamation allegation because his

request rests entirely on the Special Counsel performing a discretionary action.  Mandamus is

not an appropriate remedy where the relief sought is a discretionary action.  See, e.g., Heckler v.

Ringer, 466 U.S. 602, 616 (1984); Weber v. United States, 209 F.3d 756, 760 (D.C. Cir. 2000)2;

Wilder v. Prokop, 846 F.2d 613, 620 (10th Cir. 1988); Jarecki v. United States, 590 F.2d 670, 674

(7th Cir. 1979), reh’g and reh’g en banc denied (1979), cert. denied, 444 U.S. 829 (1979).

I. OSC has not failed to perform any non-discretionary duty under § 1214(e).

Section 1214(e) provides:

If, in connection with any investigation under [subchapter 12 of
title 5, United States Code], the Special Counsel determines that
there is reasonable cause to believe that any violation of any law,
rule, or regulation has occurred other than one referred to in 
[§ 1214(b) – i.e., a prohibited personnel practice] or [§ 1214(d) –
i.e., a crime], the Special Counsel shall report such violation to the
head of the agency involved. ***
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3  Petitioner devotes a large portion of his brief to his argument that § 1214(e) applies to all violations of law,
rule, or regulation that the Special Counsel reasonably believes have occurred, instead of only those non-criminal
violations of law, rule, or regulation that the Special Counsel does not otherwise have authority to attempt to remedy. 
First, neither OSC, the Magistrate Judge, nor this Court have adopted his strained interpretation of § 1214(e). 
Moreover, this issue need not be resolved here because the Special Counsel has not determined that there is
reasonable cause to believe that any other violation of law, rule, or regulation has been violated.  Finally, petitioner’s
interpretation is untenable.  When § 1214(e) is read in context with the entirety of § 1214, and in conjunction with
the remainder of subchapter 12, it is clear that the subsection is an ancillary authority given to the Special Counsel to
address circumstances when an OSC investigation reveals a violation of law, rule, or regulation over which OSC has
not been granted specific enforcement authority.  Subchapter 12 is part of a comprehensive enforcement scheme
originally crafted by Congress in 1978 under the Civil Service Reform Act (CSRA).  The CSRA created OSC and
conferred upon it the authority and obligation to investigate prohibited personnel practices (PPPs), inter alia.  The
CSRA also provided specific mechanisms for addressing violations of law found during an OSC PPP investigation;
these provisions were codified in 5 U.S.C. § 1206(c).  Thus, the resolution of PPPs was governed by § 1206(c)(1);
criminal violations were governed by § 1206(c)(2); and non-personnel, non-criminal violations were governed by 
§ 1206(c)(3).  Substantively, this scheme was left in place when the Whistleblower Protection Act was enacted and
these provisions were re-codified in 5 U.S.C. § 1214.  Section 1214(e) succeeded § 1206(c)(3), and thus currently
governs non-personnel, non-criminal violations of law, rule, or regulation revealed during an OSC PPP investigation
– i.e., when, in investigating a matter within OSC’s jurisdiction, the Special Counsel determines that there is
reasonable cause to believe that a violation of a law, rule, or regulation outside OSC’s jurisdiction has occurred. 
See also S. REP. NO. 969 (95th Cong., 2d Sess.), 1978 U.S.C.C.A.N. 2723, 2756 (July 10, 1978).

4 Under §§ 1214 and 1216, OSC’s investigative authority/obligation is limited to allegations of prohibited
personnel practices, Hatch Act violations, arbitrary and capricious withholdings of information requested under the
Freedom of Information Act prohibited under 5 U.S.C. § 552, activities prohibited by any civil service law, rule, or
regulation, and involvement by any employee in any prohibited discrimination under specified circumstances.  
5 U.S.C. §§ 1214(a)(1)(A) and (a)(5), and 1216(a).  On the other hand, § 1214(e) “does not authorize the Special
Counsel to conduct investigations of non-personnel related laws.  It provides for an appropriate referral system for
further investigation of possible non-personnel or criminal violations which the Special Counsel may discover
during the course of his authorized investigations.”  S. REP. NO. 969 (95th Cong., 2d Sess.), 1978 U.S.C.C.A.N.
2723, 2756 (July 10, 1978) (discussing the provision now codified at 5 U.S.C. § 1214(e)).

3

5 U.S.C. § 1214(e).  

OSC’s reporting obligation under § 1214(e) is not triggered unless and until the Special

Counsel determines that there is reasonable cause to believe that some law, rule, or regulation 

outside of OSC’s enforcement authority has been violated.3  Here, even if DOE Order 3750.1 is a

law, rule, or regulation, whether there is reasonable cause to believe it was violated when

petitioner was allegedly defamed by DOE employees is left to the sound discretion of the Special

Counsel, and that discretionary determination is not subject to mandamus relief.  The Special

Counsel has not determined that there is reasonable cause to believe that DOE Order 3750.1 has

been violated, and therefore, the triggering event for a mandatory § 1214(e) report has not

occurred.  Accordingly, the mandamus relief requested by petitioner must be denied.4
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5 On January 21, 2005, OSC notified petitioner that it had opened MA-05-0820 in response to a complaint he
filed against his employer, the Department of Energy, and specifically stated the allegation under investigation was
whether DOE knowingly and willfully failed to comply with an MSPB order.  On April 11, 2005, while OSC was
investigating this allegation, petitioner requested that OSC make a referral under 5 U.S.C. § 1214(e) based on his
allegation that he had been defamed by DOE officials.  He did not allege that any civil service law, rule, or
regulation had been violated, and he did not request that OSC investigate this allegation under 5 U.S.C. 
§ 1216(a)(4).
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II. OSC’s non-discretionary investigative responsibilities under 5 U.S.C. § 1216(a)(4)
were not triggered by petitioner’s defamation allegation.

A. DOE Order 3750.1 is not a civil service rule.

Petitioner attempts to avoid the limitations of § 1214(e) discussed above by arguing that

DOE Order 3750.1 is a civil service rule that prohibits defamation and that OSC was therefore

required to investigate his defamation allegation as part of MA-05-0820, pursuant to 5 U.S.C. 

§ 1216(a)(4).5  Not every directive, guidance document or procedure issued or published by an

agency is a civil service rule, however.  That is certainly the case with DOE Order 3750.1, an

internal DOE directive that provides guidance and delineates responsibility within DOE for

maintaining work force discipline.  OSC Exhibit 1.

Unlike the types of rules that courts have found to constitute interpretative and/or

procedural rules, DOE Order 3750.1 is merely internal agency guidance about the agency’s

responsibilities under Chapters 43 and 75 of title 5, United States Code (which govern

performance-based and conduct-based disciplinary actions, respectively, against civil service

employees).  See, e.g., Alcaraz v. Block, 746 F.2d 593 (9th Cir. 1984) (rules for gathering social

security numbers under school lunch programs administered by Department of Agriculture were

interpretive); Powderly v. Schweiker, 704 F.2d 1092 (9th Cir. 1983) (Social Security Act claims

manual published by Secretary of Health and Human Services contained interpretive rules);

Rivers v. Department of the Interior, 2006 WL 2841929 (W.D. Wash. 10/3/06) (slip copy)
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6 Furthermore, there is nothing in the legislative history of the CSRA or Whistleblower Protection Act
(WPA) that suggests that Congress intended for OSC to take on auditor-like responsibilities in relation to an
agency’s compliance with its own internal personnel directives.  Instead, other entities, such as an agency’s Office of
Inspector General and the U.S. Office of Personnel Management’s Office of Merit Systems Oversight and
Effectiveness, are charged with such responsibility.

7 Petitioner generally refers to this type of conduct as defamation, which is a common law tort, as opposed to
an activity prohibited by civil service law, rule, or regulation.
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(procedures for conducting agency trial-type hearings under the Energy Policy Act were

interpretive/procedural rules).6

B. Defamation is not an activity prohibited by DOE Order 3750.1.

Even if this Court were to conclude that DOE Order 3750.1 is a civil service rule,

petitioner has nevertheless failed to present an allegation that would trigger OSC’s investigative

obligations under 5 U.S.C. § 1216(a)(4).  OSC must investigate an allegation “concerning

activities prohibited by any civil service law, rule, or regulation.”  5 U.S.C. § 1216(a)(4)

(emphasis added).  

Petitioner has identified DOE Order 3750.1 as the rule he believes was violated when

DOE officials purportedly defamed him.  However, DOE Order 3750.1 does not, as the

petitioner claims, actually prohibit the “[m]aking [of] false, unfounded or highly irresponsible

statements against other employees … with the intent to destroy or damage the reputation,

authority or official standing of those concerned.” 7  (Defendant Exhibit 1, Attachment 1 –

“Guide to Selecting Corrective Action in Discipline Cases” – p. 8).  Rather, it instructs agency

officials about what types of discipline are appropriate to take against an employee who has

engaged in this type of conduct. It is essentially a table of penalties that does not confer any

rights to a third party.

In short, petitioner did not, and has not, made an allegation that would trigger OSC’s

investigative obligations under 5 U.S.C. § 1216(a)(4).  Accordingly, OSC is entitled to dismissal.
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CONCLUSION

This case is simply not the type of clear and compelling case for which the extraordinary

relief of mandamus is appropriate.  Petitioner has failed to show that OSC’s non-discretionary

obligations under 5 U.S.C. §§ 1214(e) or 1216(a)(4) were triggered by his defamation allegation

in MA-05-0820, and consequently, he cannot show that OSC failed to perform any non-

discretionary action.  Thus, petitioner has failed to establish that he has a clear and indisputable

right to the relief that he requested concerning MA-05-0820.  Accordingly, mandamus is not an

appropriate remedy, and petitioner’s Petition for a Writ of Mandamus regarding MA-05-0820

should be dismissed with prejudice.

Respectfully submitted,

                                                                                                 
JEFFREY A. TAYLOR, D.C. BAR No. 498610
United States Attorney

         /s/                                                                       
RUDOLPH CONTRERAS, D.C. BAR No. 434122
Assistant United States Attorney

                                 /s/                                                                        
RAYMOND A. MARTINEZ, TX Bar No.13144015
Special Assistant United States Attorney
Judiciary Center Building
555 Fourth Street, N.W., Civil Division
Washington, DC  20530

Of Counsel:
Kristin L. Ellis
Litigation Counsel
U.S. Office of Special Counsel
1730 M Street N.W., Suite 218
Washington, D.C.  20036
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Certificate of Service

I hereby certify that the foregoing Reply was mailed to Petitioner on this 7th day of

April, 2008 to the following address:

Joseph P. Carson
10953 Twin Harbor Drive
Knoxville, TN 37922

______/s/______________________
Raymond A. Martinez
Special Assistant United States Attorney
Judiciary Center Building
555 4th Street, NW, Rm E 4417
Washington, D.C. 20530
202-514-9150 
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